IN THE SUPREME COURT
APPEAL FROM THE MICHIGAN COURT OF APPEALS
HON. DAVID H. SAWYER, PRESIDING JUDGE

SKANSKA USA BUILDING, INC.,
A Delaware Corporation,

Plaintiff,

v

MCS No. 159510-1
COA Docket Nos. 341589 and 340871
Trial Ct. Case No. 13-9864-CKB

M.A.P. MECHANICAL CONTRACTORS,
INC., a Michigan Corporation, AMERISURE
INSURANCE COMPANY, a Michigan property
and casualty insurer; AMERISURE MUTUAL
INSURANCE COMPANY, a Michigan
property and casualty insurer; and AMERISURE
PARTNERS INSURANCE COMPANY, a
Michigan property and casualty insurer,

Defendants.

APPELLANT SKANSKA USA BUILDING INC.'S

BRIEF ON APPEAL

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

KOTZ SANGSTER WYSOCKI P.C.
R. Edward Boucher (P57251)

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

On October 10, 2019, this Court granted Skanska USA Building Inc.'s Application for Leave to Appeal from the Court of Appeals opinion dated March 19, 2019. Accordingly, this Court has jurisdiction pursuant to MCR 7.303(B)(1) and Mich. Const. 1963, Art VI, § 4.

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1. Should a case that construes a standardized insurance contract be given precedential effect when the dispositive provisions in that contract have since been materially changed?

Skanska says: No.

Amerisure says: Yes.

Trial Court said: I am bound by *stare decisis* to apply the old, inapplicable case.

Court of Appeals said: The old case established a principle of law that cannot be overcome by a change in the standard contract.

2. Should the court enforce the plain language of a contract, or should the court apply a holding from a different case that had different facts and different contractual language?

Skanska says: Enforce the plain language of the contract.

Amerisure says: Ignore the contract and apply the different case.

Trial Court said: I am bound by *stare decisis* to apply the different case.

Court of Appeals said: The different case established a principle of law that cannot be overcome by contractual language.

3. When the undisputed and uncontested facts indicate a party did not intend an act and did not intend the consequences of that act, should the trial court have found the act to be an “accident,” as *Allstate v McCarn*, 466 Mich 277 (2002) would require?

Skanska says: Yes.

Amerisure says: No.

Trial Court said: This is a question of fact.

Court of Appeals said: We did not even consider *Allstate*.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A trial court's decision regarding a motion for summary disposition is reviewed de novo. *Smith v Glove Life Ins. Co*, 460 Mich 446, 454; 597 NW2d 28 (1999).

A trial court properly grants summary disposition under MCR 2.116(I)(2) if the court determines the opposing party, rather than the moving party, is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Policemen & Firemen Ret. Sys. v City of Detroit*, 270 Mich. App. 74, 78, 714 N.W.2d 658, 660 (2006).

STATEMENT OF ERROR AND RELIEF SOUGHT

Skanska USA Building Inc. appeals the March 19, 2019 opinion issued by the Michigan Court of Appeals. (App. 002a-012a, **Exhibit 1.**) The Court of Appeals held *Hawkeye-Security Ins. Co. v Vector Construction Co.*, 185 Mich App 369; 460 NW2d 329 (1990) established a “principle of law” that an “occurrence” under a commercial general liability insurance policy cannot include damages for the insured’s own faulty workmanship. However, this “principle of law” undermines another one of this Court’s core principles, namely, that unambiguous agreements are enforced as written under basic rules of contract law. *Rory v Continental Insurance Company*, 473 Mich 457; 703 NW2d 23 (2005) (Exhibit 1, 011a).

The method of contractual analysis employed by the *Hawkeye-Security* court does not meet the standard set by *Rory*, *supra*. Stated briefly, *Hawkeye-Security* announced a definition of “occurrence” that differs from, and does not give effect to, the actual words of the insurance contract that was before it. In the instant case, the Court of Appeals repeats this methodological mistake by following *Hawkeye Security*’s erroneous definition of “occurrence” as a “principle of law.”

Moreover, the insurance contract that was examined in *Hawkeye-Security* is different than the insurance contract being examined today. *Hawkeye-Security* involved a claim under the 1973 Insurance Services Office “comprehensive general liability” insurance policy. However, in 1986 the Insurance Services Office significantly revised the document and renamed it the “commercial general liability” insurance policy. (App. 070a-090a, **Exhibit 4.**) These revisions are at issue in this case. They include a change to the “your product” exclusion, such that the exclusion no longer applied to real property (App. 088a, **Exhibit 4.**);

and a change to the “your work” exclusion, such that it no longer applied to work performed by the insured’s subcontractor. (*Id.*). The net effect of these revisions – indeed, the purpose of them – was to provide insurance coverage for property damage caused by construction defects in certain circumstances. (*Id.*).

When reading the plain language of the parties’ contract *in this case*, and when examining it under the facts of *this case*, not the facts that were in front of the court in *Hawkeye-Security*, it is clear the property damage at issue is covered. The Michigan Court of Appeals nevertheless denied coverage on the basis of *Hawkeye-Security*, without considering the actual language of the contract between the insured and the insurer as it reads today. This failure resulted in an erroneous decision below. Worse, by announcing its decision as a “principle of law,” the Court of Appeals has ensured its error will be repeated unless this Court corrects it. Skanska therefore requests this honorable Court to reverse the Court of Appeals’ March 19, 2019 opinion and to instruct the Court of Appeals to remand this matter to the trial court for an order of partial summary disposition on liability in Skanska’s favor under MCR 2.116(I)(2).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. The Parties and the Project.

In June of 2008, Appellant/Cross-Appellee Skanska USA Building Inc. (“Skanska”) worked as construction manager on a project to expand and renovate the Mid-Michigan Medical Center (the “Medical Center”) in Midland, Michigan.¹ M.A.P. Mechanical Contractors, Inc. (“M.A.P.”) was Skanska’s mechanical subcontractor on the Energy Center portion of the project (“Project”), and Appellee/Cross-Appellant Amerisure Insurance Company (“Amerisure”) provided commercial general liability insurance to M.A.P., as primary insured, and to Skanska and the Medical Center as additional insureds. (App. 014a, 049a-050a, **Exhibit 2.**)

B. The ISO Policy Changes.

One of the most important facts in this case occurred years before the beginning of the Project. In 1986, the Insurance Services Office (“ISO”), which drafts and publishes standard form insurance policies used throughout the insurance industry, replaced the “comprehensive general liability” policy (App. 062a-068a, **Exhibit 3.**) with a new “commercial general liability” policy (App. 070a-090a, **Exhibit 4.**). This 33 year-old revision is relevant because the primary case which Amerisure, and the lower courts relied upon – *Hawkeye-Security Insurance Company v Vector Construction Company*, 185 Mich App 369; 460 NW2d 329 (1990) – interprets the pre-1986 policy.

The 1986 policy incorporated several significant revisions. Two revisions in particular were designed to extend coverage to certain types of construction defects –

¹ Skanska and Amerisure separately sought leave to appeal the trial court’s denial of their cross-motions for summary disposition. The Court of Appeals’ April 10, 2018 orders granted both applications and consolidated them. Thus, Skanska is the appellant in one matter and the appellee in the other.

including the defects at issue in this case. The ISO made these changes to satisfy policyholders who wanted broader coverage, and insurers who wanted to sell more policies:

[T]he insurance and policyholder communities agreed that the CGL policy should provide coverage for defective construction claims so long as the allegedly defective work had been performed by a subcontractor rather than the policyholder itself. This resulted both because of the demands of the policyholder community (which wanted this sort of coverage) and the view of insurers that the CGL was a more attractive product that could be better sold if it contained this coverage.

US Fire Ins. Co v J.S.U.B, Inc., 979 So2d 871, 879 (2007), citing *See* 2 Jeffrey W. Stempel, *Stempel on Insurance Contracts* § 14.13[D] at 14–224.8 (3d ed. Supp.2007) (App. 220a, **Exhibit 17.**); *See also*, *Stemple and Knutsen on Insurance Coverage*, 4th ed., vol. 2 §14.13[D], p. 14-269 (App. 415a, 430a, **Exhibit 29.**).

The ISO published a circular on July 15, 1986 confirming that the revisions specifically “cover[ed] damage caused by faulty workmanship to other parts of work in progress; **and damage to**, or caused by, **a subcontractor’s work** after the insured’s operations are completed.” *Id.*, citing, ISO Circular, Commercial General Liability Program Instructions Pamphlet, No. GL–86–204 (July 15, 1986) (*emphasis added*). Similarly, an ISO document comparing the pre- and post-1986 policies indicates that under the 1986 Policy the “your product” exclusion (relied upon by Amerisure as a basis of denial) does not apply to real property. The ISO circular states: “Real property is specifically eliminated from the definition of ‘your product’ so that the broad form coverage for work and completed operations clearly applies.” (App. 088a, **Exhibit 4.**)

As mentioned, M.A.P. purchased this post-1986 ISO form commercial general liability insurance policy from Amerisure, covering M.A.P. as the named insured and Skanska as an additional insured.

C. M.A.P.'s defective work caused post-completion property damage which was not discovered until February 28, 2012.

The basic facts surrounding the Loss Event are not in dispute. Pursuant to its subcontract with Skanska, M.A.P. installed the hospital's primary heating system. This entailed putting a boiler in the hospital's Energy Center on the north end of the site, installing underground steam piping which extended from the boiler and ran into the hospital in the center of the campus, and installing condensate piping running from the hospital back to the boiler. This system heated a new wing of the hospital, which Skanska built under a separate contract with the Medical Center and a portion of the old hospital, which Skanska did not build.

The steam and condensate running through the underground pipe is extremely hot, sometimes in excess of 1,000 degrees Fahrenheit. As a matter of physics, the pipe heated by the steam and condensate expands. Accordingly, the pipe requires specially fabricated joints to accommodate this expansion. M.A.P. installed expansion joints in two manholes (sometimes referred to as steam pits or steam vaults) located in the parking lot between the two buildings. Unfortunately, M.A.P. accidentally installed three of the six expansion joints backwards. However, the backward expansion joints were not immediately discovered because the expansion joints were covered with insulation shortly after they were installed.

M.A.P. completed its work in April of 2009. Once Skanska completed work on the Medical Center operating rooms in November of 2010, the Medical Center cranked up its new boiler to regular operating power for the first time. Witnesses described a loud "boom" immediately thereafter. Everyone attributed the boom to water hammer, a relatively common event when boilers are first started. Skanska's Colin Martin explained:

So when you have that kind of noise the assumption was – At that point we thought everything was installed correctly, so the assumption was the only thing that can make that kind of noise is a large water hammer, and therefore the mechanic must have turned the valve too quick. So that's how that went for a long period of time, and that poor man got blamed for something he didn't do.

(Deposition of Colin Martin, pp. 436-437, App. 101a, **Exhibit 5.**)

The two manholes experienced a series of problems over the next year. Excessive steam in the manholes melted light fixtures, melted one manhole's sump pump controller, and caused the other manhole's sump pump overload to fail. Excessive groundwater was also able to enter the manholes, overwhelming the sump pumps and causing them to fail a second time. The Medical Center paid to address these problems, as everyone believed the Medical Center's architect or boiler mechanic was responsible.

On December 16, 2011, while working on these issues in one of the manholes, a subcontractor noticed a crack in the wall adjacent to an expansion joint support beam. (Deposition of Colin Martin, App. 099a, **Exhibit 5.**) For safety reasons, Skanska closed the manholes and brought in a temporary boiler so the steam system could be shut down and an investigation into the problem could begin. (*Id.*) This was not an easy task. It took two months to procure a temporary boiler, pipe a gas line to it, and run steam and condensate into the hospital's steam distribution system.

February 28, 2012 was the first day anyone was able to re-enter the manholes. When the insulation was removed from the steam and condensate lines, Skanska learned it was not water hammer, but backward expansion joints that had been causing the problems:

Q. Right. So how can you say that there was a determination made —

A. Because I can tell you that when we discovered that the — **After the insulation was stripped off the expansion joints and they were found to be backwards all the problems associated with the steam**

system, now a big light bulb came on in everybody's head, this is the root cause of all these failures.

(Deposition of Colin Martin, App. 100a, **Exhibit 5.**)(*Emphasis added.*)

In fact, the “boom” was the sound of the 14-inch concrete manhole wall, the thrust blocks, the structural steel supports, and the pipe casing breaking as the superheated steam caused the underground pipes to expand into the backward expansion joints. M.A.P.’s improper installation of the expansion joints was the catalyst causing catastrophic damage to the entire steam system once the boiler was turned up to full power (“Loss Event”). The May 14, 2012 letter from the piping system’s manufacturer to Skanska summarizes the damage caused by the 700,000 and 250,000 pound forces being exerted on the piping system during the Loss Event. (App. 103a, **Exhibit 6.**) Photographs taken after the Loss Event occurred depict some of the damage to the concrete and steel. (App. 106a-108a, **Exhibit 7.**)

D. Amerisure had timely notice of the Loss Event, and therefore an “occurrence” under the terms of the policy, but refused to adjust the claim.

Amerisure had notice of the Loss Event three days after it was discovered by Skanska. (App. 118a, **Exhibit 9.**) As previously mentioned, Skanska is an additional insured under the Amerisure policy. (App. 049a-050a, **Exhibit 2.**) By March 6, 2012 Amerisure had assigned the Loss Event a claim number, as evidenced by its Notice of Occurrence/Claim form. (App. 118a, **Exhibit 10.**) Amerisure also knew M.A.P. had installed expansion joints backward and knew some resulting structural damage had occurred (at the hospital). (App. 114a-115a, **Exhibit 10.**) But rather than investigate the claim and render a timely assessment of coverage, Amerisure stonewalled. Over the next three months, Skanska and Amerisure engaged in a volley of correspondence in which Skanska requested Amerisure’s participation in the investigation and in which Amerisure resisted the request. Throughout the process, Amerisure never sent Skanska a written statement specifying exactly what materials it

considered a satisfactory proof of loss, in clear violation of MCL 500.2006(3). Furthermore, Amerisure never issued Skanska a written reservation of rights or any other document identifying the clauses in the insurance policy that it believed restricted or negated coverage for the Loss Event.

E. The investigation revealed irreparably damaged steam pipe.

Following the discovery of the Loss Event, Skanska learned that three quarters of the underground steam pipe installed on its behalf by its subcontractor M.A.P. had been irreparably damaged by the backward installation of the expansion joints. As mentioned above, the “boom” heard by witnesses after the boiler cranked up to full power was the sound of breaking pipe casing and breaking concrete. These fractures allowed groundwater to seep into the insulating layer of the steam pipe, completely destroying it. (App. 103a-104a, **Exhibit 6.**) While M.A.P. replaced the backward expansion joints, Skanska was forced to replace the damaged pipe and bear the resultant cost alone, as M.A.P. and Amerisure refused to do so. Unfortunately, the pipe was buried under a parking lot amongst sewer lines and other utilities, which made replacing it a complicated and expensive process. The final cost came to \$1,463,666.23.

Nearly four and a half months after receiving notice of the Loss Event, Amerisure offered to pay \$36,000 to settle the claim – a claim in excess of \$1.4 Million – because Amerisure felt “there appear to be some damages that are not directly related to the work performed by” M.A.P. Mechanical. (App. 148a-149a, **Exhibit 11.**) Amerisure said this offer took into account its “defenses of late notice, spoliation of evidence, design deficiencies, and improper mitigation of damages on behalf of Skanska.” (App. 148a-149a, **Exhibit 11.**) Yet the letter extending this offer made no reference to any provision in the insurance policy that

could justify Amerisure's position. Amerisure's letter said nothing about an "occurrence," nor did it say anything about the potential applicability of policy exclusions or conditions to the Loss Event. (App. 148a-149a, **Exhibit 11.**) To the contrary, Amerisure's letter suggested the claim was covered by the policy, but coverage was limited because some of the damages may not have been caused by M.A.P.'s backward installation of the expansion joints.

Amerisure also sent Skanska's primary insurer, Zurich, a letter on July 12, 2012. (App. 151a-152a, **Exhibit 12.**) This letter also failed to dispute the qualification of the Loss Event as an "occurrence" under the terms of the policy or raise the exclusion defenses that Amerisure subsequently raised in the trial court proceedings. (App. 151a-152a, **Exhibit 12.**) Follow-up correspondence sent by Amerisure to Zurich the following April again denied liability, but similarly failed to cite any provision in the policy that would support a denial of coverage for the Loss Event. (App. 154a-155a, **Exhibit 13.**)

With understandable frustration, Skanska began this litigation soon after it received Amerisure's July 12, 2012 correspondence. (App. 154a-155a, **Exhibit 13.**)

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Skanska filed its complaint on June 13, 2013 in the Midland County Circuit Court. On April 29, 2014, Amerisure filed a motion for summary disposition under MCR 2.116(C)(10) in which it erroneously argued its insurance policy did not cover the damage caused by the backward installation of steam expansion joints. The trial court initially denied Amerisure's motion because questions of material fact precluded the relief Amerisure sought; however on April 6, 2015, the trial court issued a ruling on Amerisure's motion for reconsideration in which it partially granted Amerisure's motion for summary disposition. On May 8, 2017, Amerisure filed a renewed motion for summary disposition. Skanska's response included a request for partial judgment on liability in Skanska's favor under MCR 2.116(I)(2). On October 10, 2017, the trial court denied both parties' requests for summary disposition. (App. 157a-166a, **Exhibit 14**.)

On October 31, 2017, Amerisure filed an application for leave to appeal with the Court of Appeals, and Skanska filed a motion for reconsideration with the trial court, which was denied on November 28, 2017. Skanska filed an application for leave to appeal on December 19, 2017. Thus the parties both found error in the trial court's October 10, 2017 order, albeit on different grounds.

The Court of Appeals granted both Skanska and Amerisure's applications for leave to appeal on April 10, 2018 and consolidated the two cases. On March 19, 2019, after briefing and oral argument, the Court of Appeals issued a per curiam opinion reversing the trial court's failure to grant Amerisure summary disposition. (App. 002a-012a, **Exhibit 1**.)

The briefs Skanska submitted to the Court of Appeals included an explanation of the change in contract language when the *comprehensive* general liability policy was replaced

with the *commercial* general liability policy. Skanska also cited the actual language of the insurance contract at issue. However, the Court of Appeals refused to address the language of the contract. Instead, the court held:

The matter is well-settled. We hold that the trial court properly applied *Hawkeye* to this case. It is an established principle of law that an “occurrence” cannot include damages for the insured’s own faulty workmanship.

(App. 011a, **Exhibit 1.**)

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