STATE OF MICHIGAN
IN THE SUPREME COURT

SKANSKA USA BUILDING, INC.,

Plaintiff,

SC No. 159510
COA No. 340871; 341589
L.C. No. 13-009864-CK

v

M.A.P. MECHANICAL CONTRACTORS, INC.,
AMERISURE INSURANCE COMPANY AND
AMERISURE MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY,

Defendants,

**DEFENDANTS-APPELLEES AMERISURE'S
BRIEF ON APPEAL**

***** ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED *****

PLUNKETT COONEY

BY: JEFFREY C. GERISH (P51338)
TANYA M. MURRAY (P82517)
Attorneys for Defendants-Appellees
Amerisure Insurance Company and
Amerisure Mutual Insurance Company
38505 Woodward Ave., Suite 100
Bloomfield Hills, MI 48304
Direct Dial: (248) 901-4031

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

ARGUMENT

I. The change in the CGL form does not render *Hawkeye's* analysis or holding inapplicable.

In its October 18, 2019 Order granting leave, the first issue the Court ordered the parties to address is “whether . . . the definition of ‘occurrence’ in [*Hawkeye*] remains valid under the terms of the commercial general-liability policy at issue here.” Tellingly, Skanska does not get around to addressing that issue until page 21 of its brief, ten pages into its argument. There Skanska argues that “in 1986, the ISO revised the definition of ‘occurrence’ slightly, and dramatically revised the ‘your product’ and ‘your work’ exclusions.” (Skanska’s brief, p. 21). Skanska is right about the first part, but wrong about the second, at least as applied to Skanska’s claim for coverage as an additional insured under the Amerisure policy. The revisions to the definition of “occurrence” and the “your product” and “your work” exclusions quite clearly have no impact on the analysis in *Hawkeye*, as Amerisure demonstrates below.

A. The alteration in the definition of “occurrence” does not implicate *Hawkeye's* analysis.

The policy at issue in *Hawkeye* defined “occurrence” as follows:

“Occurrence” means an accident, including continuous or repeated exposure to conditions, which results in bodily injury or property damage neither expected nor intended from the standpoint of the insured;

Hawkeye, 185 Mich App at 373 (emphasis added). The ISO CGL form as revised in 1986, which is used in the Amerisure policy, merely removes the latter part of this definition from the definition and puts it into an exclusion. The Amerisure policy defines “occurrence” as:

“Occurrence” means an accident, including continuous or repeated exposure to substantially the same general harmful conditions.

(Amerisure Policy at App. 36a) (emphasis added).³

Thus, as Skanska concedes, the alteration to the definition of “occurrence” was slight. More importantly, the alteration clearly does not impact the applicability of *Hawkeye* to this case. That is because the court in *Hawkeye* confined its entire analysis of the “occurrence” issue to the italicized portion of the above-quoted language, which has not changed.

The *Hawkeye* court began its analysis of the “occurrence” issue by quoting the definition of “occurrence” from the policy language at issue in that case. *Hawkeye*, 185 Mich App at 373. The court then focused its analysis entirely on the meaning of the term “accident.” *Id.* at 374-378. The court found that defective workmanship did not constitute an “accident,” based on the very definition of the word “accident” that this Court has

³ The “expected or intended” language was moved into Exclusion 2.A., which provides:

This insurance does not apply to:

a. Expected Or Intended Injury

“Bodily injury” or “Property damage” expected or intended from the standpoint of the insured. . . .

(App. 24a). The only other change was to replace “conditions” with “substantially the same general harmful conditions,” which is not a material change for purposes of this case.

adopted and adhered to in several decisions. *See, e.g., Allstate Ins Co v McCarn*, 466 Mich 277; 645 NW2d 20 (2002).⁴ Because the court in *Hawkeye* found that defective workmanship, standing alone, did not constitute an “accident” as that term is defined under Michigan law, the court did not need to, and did not, proceed to analyze the modifying clause “which results in bodily injury or property damage neither expected nor intended from the standpoint of the insured.”

Because *Hawkeye’s* definition of “occurrence” was based solely on the meaning of “accident,” and not in any way on the modifying clause at the end of the definition, the removal of that modifying clause from the definition of “occurrence” in the 1986 ISO form does nothing to impact the applicability of *Hawkeye’s* analysis. Skanska does not, and cannot, proffer any argument to the contrary, which likely explains why Skanska relegates its argument on this issue to the latter part of its brief.

This also likely explains why the Court of Appeals applied *Hawkeye’s* holding to the very policy language at issue in this case in *Radenbaugh v Farm Bureau General Ins Co of Michigan*, 240 Mich App 134; 610 NW2d 272 (2000)—and saw no need to explain why it did so through a discussion of an irrelevant distinction. Skanska suggests that *Radenbaugh* applied *Hawkeye’s* holding to the revised policy language only because the court did not analyze whether *Hawkeye’s* holding should apply. The more likely explanation why *Radenbaugh* applied that holding to the revised policy language without discussing the change is because *the relevant language is unchanged*, and nothing about the change in policy language impacts the applicability of *Hawkeye’s* analysis.

⁴ This point is discussed in greater detail in section III.

Indeed, the Court of Appeals later made this very point in *Liparoto v Gen Shale Brick*, 284 Mich App 25, 38, 39; 772 NW2d 801 (2009), when it explicitly recognized that the definition of “occurrence” at issue in *Radenbaugh* was “not significantly different in substance” from the definition at issue in *Hawkeye*.

B. The alteration in the ‘your work’ exclusion does not implicate *Hawkeye’s* analysis.

Skanska contends that the 1986 ISO form “dramatically revised the ‘your product’ and ‘your work’ exclusions,” and that this somehow renders *Hawkeye’s* analysis inapplicable to the language of the Amerisure policy. But Skanska does not develop this point in its argument, and the reason why is obvious: it is completely without merit.

The policy at issue in *Hawkeye* included the following exclusions:

This insurance does not apply:

* * *

- (n) to property damage to the named insured’s products arising out of such products or any part of such products;
- (o) to property damage to work performed by or on behalf of the named insured arising out of the work or any portion thereof, or out of materials, parts, or equipment furnished in connection therewith;

Hawkeye, 185 Mich App at 383.

The Amerisure policy includes the same basic exclusions:

This insurance does not apply:

* * *

k Damage To Your Product

“Property damage” to “your product” arising out of it or any part of it.

I **Damage To Your Work**

“Property damage” to “your work” arising out of it or any part of it and included in the “products-completed operations hazard.”

This exclusion does not apply if the damaged work or the work out of which the damage arises was performed on your behalf by a subcontractor.

(App. 27a).

As can plainly be seen, the language of these exclusions is fairly similar, and there is no change that impacts the issue of whether there is an “occurrence.” While the newer form replaces “the named insured” with “your,” the first page of the coverage form in the Amerisure policy specifically states that the words “you” and “your” refer to the Named Insured. (App. 23a). And, while the new version removes the concept of work performed “on behalf of the named insured,” and adds an exception that preserves coverage if the work is done by the named insured’s subcontractor, that change has nothing to do with the requirement of an “occurrence.”⁵

Skanska’s argument as to how the changes in the named insured’s product/work exclusions render *Hawkeye’s* analysis and holding inapplicable is less than clear. Its argument, set forth on pages 18 and 19 of its brief, seems to be that *Hawkeye* erred by failing to recognize that it is only the named insured’s work exclusion that precludes coverage when the only damage is damage to the insured’s work, not the requirement of an

⁵ The addition of the subcontractor exception also does nothing to help Skanska in this case with regard to this exclusion. Skanska seeks coverage, not under its own policy for faulty work of its subcontractor, but as an additional insured under the subcontractor’s policy. This point is discussed in section IV.C.

“accident,” and, therefore, *Hawkeye’s* holding that defective workmanship, standing alone, is not an “accident” is wrong. But that is an argument that *Hawkeye* was wrongly decided; not an argument that *Hawkeye’s* analysis is inapplicable to the Amerisure policy language by virtue of any difference in policy language.

It cannot be—and is not—seriously contended that the language of the Amerisure policy is materially different from the policy language at issue in *Hawkeye*, whether the focus is on the definition of “occurrence” or on the named insured/your product or work exclusions. The language has not changed in a way that renders *Hawkeye’s* holding as to an “occurrence,” or its supporting analysis, inapplicable to the Amerisure policy.

Skanska’s argument that *Hawkeye* was wrongly decided is wholly without merit, as set forth in section III. But to answer the Court’s first question in its Order granting leave, the definition of “occurrence” in *Hawkeye* unquestionably remains valid under the terms of the Amerisure policy at issue.

II. Skanska has not shown a genuine issue of material fact as to the existence of an “occurrence” under *Hawkeye*.

The second question the Court asked the parties to address is whether Skanska has shown a genuine issue of material fact as to the existence of an “occurrence” under the terms of the Amerisure policy. Skanska does not address this issue in its brief, and has never suggested that there is a question of fact as to the existence of an “occurrence.” Indeed, Skanska has repeatedly emphasized that the facts are undisputed, and argues only that the Court of Appeals erred in holding that the defective workmanship does not constitute an “accident” under Michigan’s established definition of that term. As set forth below, Skanska is wrong. But the answer to the Court’s second question in its Order

granting leave is that the parties agree there is no material fact as to the existence of an “occurrence.”

III. This Court should not overturn *Hawkeye*.

Amerisure submits that there is no cause for this Court to revisit the fundamental holding in *Hawkeye*, a decision that was issued 30 years ago, has been cited in at least 100 cases, and has never been questioned or criticized by this Court. Because *Hawkeye*’s definition of “occurrence” remains valid under the terms of the Amerisure policy, as discussed in section I, and because no one suggests there is a question of fact about it, as set forth in section II, this Court should proceed no further. The Court should either affirm the Court of Appeals judgment or vacate the Court’s October 18, 2019 Order granting leave and deny Skanska’s application. *See, e.g., Hastings Mut Ins Co v Mosher, Dolan, Cataldo & Kelly, Inc*, 480 Mich 928 (2007).

If this Court nevertheless prefers to reexamine this settled Michigan law, there is no basis whatsoever to overturn it. *Hawkeye* was correctly decided. It effectuates the fundamental purpose of general liability coverage, correctly applies this Court’s longstanding definition of “accident,” and reflects the majority approach among jurisdictions that have addressed this issue. Furthermore, the foundations of this Court’s *stare decisis* strongly counsel against overruling *Hawkeye*.

A. *Hawkeye* was correctly decided.

1. Accident insurance was never intended to serve as a warranty for the insured’s work product.

Commercial general liability insurance is accident insurance. It is not, and never was, intended to guarantee the quality of work or products of its insureds, or to provide a warranty for that work or product. This is perhaps the single most fundamental

characteristic of CGL insurance. As one commentator has put it, “Coverage under a commercial general liability insurance policy is for tort liability for physical damages to others and not for contractual liability of the insured for economic loss because the product or work is not that for which the damaged person bargained.” 9A Couch on Ins § 129:17. (Apx. 63b).⁶

To hold otherwise, i.e., to hold that CGL policies require the insurer to pay for the cost of replacing or repairing the insured’s own defective work, would, as courts have recognized, effectively transform the policy into something akin to a performance bond. *See, e.g., Certain Underwriters at Lloyd’s London v Metro Builders, Inc*, ___Ill App 3d___, No. 1-19-0517, 2019 WL 6893267, at *4 (Ill App Ct, December 18, 2019) (citations omitted) (Apx. 67b). *See also L-J, Inc v Bituminous Fire & Marine Ins Co*, 366 SC 117, 124, 621 SE2d 33 (2005) (Apx. 83b) (“If we were to hold [that defective workmanship constitutes an accident], the CGL policy would be more like a performance bond, which guarantees the work, rather than like an insurance policy, which is intended to insure against accidents.”); *Essex Ins Co v Holder*, 370 Ark 465, 261 SW3d 456, 459–60 (2007) (Apx. 88b) (“Faulty workmanship is not an accident; instead, it is a foreseeable occurrence, and performance bonds exist in the marketplace to insure the contractor against claims for the cost of repair or replacement of faulty work.”)

This Court has long recognized that the vehicle for assuring performance of a contractor in compliance with plans and specifications is a performance bond, not a general

⁶ Normally Amerisure would not include in its appendix published articles and authorities from other jurisdiction. But because Skanska did so in its appendix, Amerisure has done so in its appendix.

liability policy. *See, e.g., U S Fid & Guar Co v Black*, 412 Mich 99, 107; 313 NW2d 77 (1981) (performance bond assures lender and owner of project that construction will be completed by surety if contractor fails to complete it); *Hardware Dealers Mut Ins Co v RH Hidey, Inc*, 349 Mich 490, 510; 84 NW2d 795, 798 (1957) (performance bond assured construction of project “in accordance with the plans and specifications”).

In demanding coverage under the Amerisure policy, Skanska seeks to recover that for which commercial general liability policies were never intended to provide recovery, namely the cost of repairing and replacing the insured’s own defective workmanship—over which the insured has total control. This request runs afoul of the fundamental purpose of CGL coverage, “which is intended to insure against *accidents*.” *L-J, Inc*, 366 SC at 124 (emphasis added).

2. The CGL policy’s purpose of insuring only accidents is implemented by the requirement of an “occurrence,” defined as an *accident*.

Contrary to Skanska’s and its amici’s strained arguments, the source of a CGL policy’s limitation of that coverage to accidents is set forth, not in an exclusion, but in the insuring agreement. It is set forth in the provision stating that the insurance applies to “‘property damage’ only if . . . ‘property damage’ is caused by an ‘occurrence,’” and by the definition of “occurrence” to mean an “*accident*.” While it is true that the “your products” and “your work” exclusions preclude coverage of damage to the insured’s own work or product, that has nothing to do with the independent requirement that there must be an “accident” in order for coverage potentially to exist in the first place. And it is, of course, well settled “that exclusionary clauses never grant coverage, but rather limit the scope of the [coverage granted in the insuring agreement].” *Fresard v Michigan Millers Mut Ins Co*,

414 Mich 686, 697; 327 NW2d 286, 290 (1982). *See also Crouchman v Motor City Elec Co*, 474 Mich 987; 707 NW2d 595, 596 (2005) (“Coverage cannot be based on the language in [an exclusion in] the policy, because the language of that provision excludes coverage and does not create coverage”).

As set forth below, self-damaging work from faulty workmanship that requires its own repair or replacement is not an accident under Michigan’s well-established definition of the term “accident,” as *Hawkeye* correctly held.

3. An “accident” requires more than mere unintentional or unusual poor workmanship; it requires *fortuity*, which poor workmanship, without more, does not involve.

a. Michigan rules of insurance contract construction control.

Michigan’s rules of insurance contract construction are well established. Under Michigan law, an insurance policy is treated the same as any other contract; the Court will determine what the agreement was and effectuate the parties’ intent. *Auto-Owners Ins Co v Churchman*, 440 Mich 560, 566; 489 NW2d 431 (1992). In Michigan, “insurance policies *are* subject to the same contract construction principles that apply to any other species of contract.” *Rory v Continental Ins Co*, 473 Mich 457, 461; 703 NW2d 23 (2005) (emphasis in original).

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